STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

 

Statement of the Case 

 This appeal arises out of a public records request by the Respondents, 

“Media Parties,” to the Broward Sheriff’s Office and the School Board of Broward 

County. The Media Parties requested certain portions of video surveillance from 

Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School taken on the date of the tragic school 

shooting. After the School Board, the State Attorney’s Office and a number of 

victims’ families objected, the trial court conducted several status conferences and 

two evidentiary hearings, heard legal argument, and reviewed the video 

surveillance in camera.  Thereafter, the trial court ordered the release of certain 

portions of the video to the Media Parties. Both the State Attorney’s Office and the 

School Board appealed to the Fourth District, which affirmed in a 2-1 opinion, a 

copy of which is attached. 

Statement of the Facts 

 Two weeks after the tragedy of February 14, 2018, the Media Parties 

petitioned for access to certain surveillance video from the exterior cameras at 

Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School. The first request asked for video 

surveillance showing the school resource officer’s response to the shooting. 

The Broward Sheriff’s Office and the School Board opposed the request, 

and were joined by the State Attorney’s Office and a number of families of the 
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victims who were permitted to intervene. The trial court held an evidentiary 

hearing on March 8, 2018, at which the trial court heard live testimony and legal 

argument, following the hearing, the responsive video surveillance was pixilated to 

protect the students (upon agreement of the parties), and provided to the trial court 

for in camera review.  

The School Board argued that the video surveillance was exempt from 

disclosure under Florida law because the information requested related to the 

School Board’s security systems, and the release of that information could imperil 

the safety of its students and employees. The School Board further objected 

because of the privacy interests of the students depicted in the videos.  

At the initial evidentiary hearing, the School Board offered the testimony of 

its Chief Information Officer who explained, in detail, how the video surveillance 

was taken by the Broward Sheriff’s Office and the FBI who, over objection, also 

required the School Board to delete any back-up copies of the surveillance. Also, 

the Assistant Principal in charge of technology at Marjory Stoneman Douglas High 

School testified about how the video cameras are placed on the school campus, and 

the role they play in the school’s security plan. He expressed concerns that the 

disclosure of the video would show multiple blind spots and create safety concerns. 

 On March 11, 2018, after reviewing the video in camera, the trial court 

entered an order allowing its release. The School Board, after reviewing that 



3 

 

portion of the video surveillance which remains in the possession of the Broward 

Sheriff’s Office, opted not to appeal the trial court’s order and the video depicting 

the deputy was provided to the Media Parties and released to the public. 

 A week later, the Media Parties asked the trial court to release additional 

video surveillance of the overall “law enforcement response” to the school 

shooting. Again, the School Board objected to the disclosure, as did the State 

Attorney’s Office, and some of the victims’ families through the State Attorney 

and their own independent counsel. 

 The trial court held two more status conferences and a second evidentiary 

hearing. At the second evidentiary hearing, the trial court heard from a few 

additional witnesses. One of the investigating officers agreed that a release of the 

video surveillance that he had reviewed would inherently let the public know what 

surveillance was not available at the school.  The School Board also presented the 

testimony of a major from the School Board’s internal police department who 

testified that releasing the video would jeopardize the integrity of the security 

system at the school.  

Again, the trial court reviewed the video surveillance, in camera, and 

ultimately ordered that video to be released to the Media Parties. The trial court 

agreed with the School Board’s contention that the statutory exemption applied, 

because the video surveillance “relate[s] directly to or reveal[s] information about 
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security systems.” However, the trial court went on to note that since the videos 

would only “minimally” reveal information relating to the security system of 

Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School, the “good cause” exception to the 

exemption applied, and the video could, and should, be disclosed. The only 

rationale for that good cause expressed by the trial court was the “public’s right to 

be informed.” 

 Both the State Attorney’s Office and the School Board appealed to the 

Fourth District, which issued a 2-1 decision affirming the trial court’s order 

allowing the release of the video depicting the law enforcement response. The 

Fourth District agreed with the trial court that the exemption applies, noting that 

the video footage is “confidential and exempt from disclosure to the public” 

because the footage “relates directly” to the security system at the school. The 

appellate court also agreed with the trial court, however, that “good cause” had 

been established to allow the application of the statutory exception to the security 

exemption. Accordingly, the Fourth District affirmed the trial court’s order “in all 

respects” and ordered the video to be released.  

 In a dissenting opinion, Judge Conner agreed with the majority’s 

determination that the public has a right to know and evaluate the response of law 

enforcement to the active shooter situation. However, he went on to explain that 

since the legislature has created a statutory exemption to the public records law, for 
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obvious safety reasons, the video surveillance should not be released so long as it 

could show gaps in the security system currently in place. He dissented from the 

majority’s opinion to the extent that it allowed release of the video surveillance 

before significant changes had been made to the school’s security system and 

video capabilities, suggesting, instead, that the information should be withheld in 

the meantime.  

The Fourth District also denied, in a 2-1 decision, the School Board’s 

request for certification of a question of great public importance. Both the State 

Attorney’s Office (SC18-1227) and the School Board (SC18-1280) now seek 

discretionary review in this Court.  
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 This case involves the interplay between Florida’s Constitution and the 

related statutes governing access to public records and a statutory exemption put in 

place by the Florida Legislature in an effort to ensure the security of public 

buildings. The Fourth District’s ruling interprets Article I, §24(c) of the Florida 

Constitution, Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes, governing public records, and 

various statutory exemptions, namely those set forth in § 119.071(3) and 281.301. 

Thus, discretionary review is permitted in this Court pursuant to Article V, §3(b)(3) 

of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 

9.030(a)(2)(A)(i) and (ii). The School Board respectfully submits that the Fourth 

District’s interpretation of these statutes improperly eradicates the protections 

afforded by the Legislature when it put the security exemptions in place. In turn, the 

opinion could impact safety and security concerns in place to protect not just public 

schools, but all government buildings and other facilities throughout Florida – 

concerns which are made evident by the very facts giving rise to this litigation. The 

School Board proposes that the wide-reaching implications of this decision warrant 

this Court’s attention. 
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ARGUMENT 

The School Board seeks discretionary review in this Court pursuant to Article 

V, §3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 

9.030(a)(2)(A)(i) and (ii). The School Board submits that the Fourth District’s 

opinion interpreting various Florida Statutes and a constitutional provision 

misapplies the law and obviates the statutory exemption which was put in place 

to maintain the safety and security of public facilities.  

 

 A. The Statutes and Constitutional Provisions at Issue 

 Pursuant to Article I, §24(c) of the Florida Constitution, and §119.07 of the 

Florida Statutes, every person has the right to inspect or copy public records. The 

trial court and the Fourth District agreed that the video surveillance at issue here is a 

“public record” within the meaning of the Public Records Act. However, 

notwithstanding the public policy favoring access to public records, the Florida 

Constitution expressly provides a procedure by which the Florida Legislature may 

create statutory exemptions, which it has done here.  

§119.071 of the Florida Statutes exempts from disclosure:    

1. Any information revealing surveillance techniques or 

procedures or personnel (§119.071(2)(d));   

2. Any building plans, blueprints, schematic drawings, and 

diagrams . . .  which depict the internal layout and structural 

elements of a building. . .  or other structure owned or operated 

by an agency (§119.071(3)(b)1); and  

3. Any security system plan, including all materials relating to the 

physical security of a facility or security systems 

(§119.071(3)(a)1).  
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Likewise, §281.301 of the Florida Statutes separately exempts from public access 

or disclosure “information relating to the security systems for any property owned 

by or leased to the state or any of its political subdivisions . . .  including all 

records, information, photographs, audio and visual presentations, schematic 

diagrams, surveys . . . relating to or revealing such systems or information, and all 

meetings relating directly thereto.” See also, §286.0113(1), Fla. Stat. (exempting 

any records of public minutes or meetings relating to security systems). These 

security and surveillance records are protected from public disclosure because 

disclosure would “imperil the safety of persons and property.” See, generally, 

Critical Intervention Serv., Inc. v. City of Clearwater, 908 So. 2d 1195, 1197 (Fla. 

2d DCA 2005). The trial court and the Fourth District also agreed that these 

exemptions apply to the video surveillance at issue in this case.  

B. The Good Cause Exception to the Exemption 

 The ultimate issue in this case, if accepted for review, is whether a “good 

cause” exception to the security exemptions applies to this video surveillance. See 

§§119.071(3)(a)(3)(d); 281.301(2)(d). Both the trial court and the majority in the 

Fourth District found that the Media Parties satisfied the “good cause” requirement. 

However, the School Board respectfully submits that this Court’s review is 

warranted where the lower courts’ interpretation of “good cause” essentially 

eliminates the exemption put in place by the Legislature, notwithstanding the fact 
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that the exemption was designed to secure public facilities and protect them from the 

dangers that could result from the public dissemination of security information.   

The public’s “right to know” has been a cornerstone of Florida’s public 

records law since 1909, with the applicable statutes enacted in 1967. However, the 

Florida Legislature saw fit to enact the security exemptions set forth in §281.301 (in 

1987) and §119.071 (in 2001, shortly after the terrorist attacks on the United States). 

Given the history and the underlying rationale for protecting information “relating 

to” or “revealing” public security systems, the School Board respectfully submits 

that something more than a “right to know” is required in order to surpass the 

exemption and establish “good cause.” If the public’s right to know is always 

sufficient to satisfy the exception, the exemption itself is without meaning; and it is a 

long-standing tenet of Florida law that the courts should avoid readings that would 

render part of a statute meaningless. See, e.g., Carlson v. State, 227 So. 3d 1261 

(Fla. 1
st
 DCA 2017)(discussing public meetings); Palm Beach County Sheriff’s 

Office v. Sun-Sentinel Co., LLC, 226 So. 3d 969 (Fla. 4
th
 DCA 2017)(discussing 

statutory exemptions to public disclosure). Accordingly, the School Board 

respectfully requests that this Court accept review in order to provide guidance to 

the Florida courts on what constitutes a good cause exception to the public records 

exclusion that applies to information regarding security systems in public places.  
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C. Discretionary Jurisdiction 

Undoubtedly the Fourth District’s opinion construes a number of Florida 

Statutes valid, namely the security exemption, and the exception thereto, and, in 

doing so, also construes the Florida Constitution. Accordingly, discretionary review 

would be proper before this Court. See, generally, Mozo v. State, 632 So. 2d 623, 

638 n.11 (Fla. 4
th
 DCA 1994)(noting that where the court expressly construes a 

provision of the constitution, there is no need to certify a question as one of great 

public importance, as this Court has discretionary review); see also, River Place 

Condo. Ass’n at Ellenton, Inc. v. Benzing, 890 So. 2d 386, 389 (Fla. 2d DCA 

2004)(appellate decision expressly declaring a statute valid invokes discretionary 

review); Sigler v. State, 881 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 4
th
 DCA 2004)(decision holding statute 

invalid based on the Sixth Amendment gives rise to discretionary jurisdiction in this 

Court); Wickman v. Firestone, 500 So. 2d 740 (Fla. 4
th
 DCA 1987)(decision finding 

statute valid and enforceable affords the litigants “an opportunity to invoke the 

Supreme Court’s discretionary jurisdiction” under the appellate rules). 

CONCLUSION 

The Petitioner, the School Board of Broward County, respectfully requests 

that this Court accept discretionary review and allow the case to proceed on the 

merits.