PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 Petitioner asserts this Court should review the decision of the Fourth District 

Court of Appeal because it “construes a number of Florida Statutes valid” and also 

“construes the Florida Constitution.”  This is a mischaracterization of the opinion. 

In fact, the opinion does not “expressly declare” a state statute valid, nor does it 

“expressly construe” a constitutional provision.  Rather, the Fourth District simply 

applied the relevant provisions of the Public Records Act to the unique and well-

developed facts and evidence below.  As such, the petition should be dismissed.   

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

  On February 26, 2018, Respondent News Media Parties1 filed a petition for 

access to video surveillance from the exterior cameras of Marjory Stoneman 

Douglas High School in an effort to gain clarity about the law enforcement 

response to the tragic shooting on February 14, 2018.  The petition named the 

Broward County Sheriff’s Office (“BSO”), Scott Israel in his official capacity as 

Broward County Sheriff, the School Board of Broward County (“School Board”), 

                                           
1  The Respondents/Appellees and petitioners in the trial court are as 

follows:  ABC, Inc.; The Associated Press; The Bradenton Herald; Cable News 

Network, Inc.; the First Amendment Foundation; the Florida Press Association; 

Gannett Co., Inc.; Los Angeles Times Communications LLC; Miami Herald Media 

Company; The New York Times Company; Orlando Sentinel Communications 

Company, LLC; and Sun-Sentinel Company, LLC. 
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and Robert W. Runcie, in his official capacity as Superintendent of Schools, 

Broward County.    

 Petitioner School Board opposed the Petition, arguing that the videos were 

exempt because they potentially disclosed the School’s security system and 

violated student privacy laws. The School Board later agreed the privacy objection 

was moot once all parties agreed that any student images appearing on the videos 

would be obscured prior to release.  The Broward State Attorney’s Office (“SAO”) 

also intervened, opposed access, and has filed a notice to invoke this Court’s 

jurisdiction (Case No. SC18-1227).  

 The News Media Parties did not seek -- and have never sought -- videos that 

depicted any victims of the shooting, witnesses, or any students.  Instead, the News 

Media Parties focused on obtaining video footage depicting only the law 

enforcement response, and initially on the well-publicized and known footage of 

BSO Deputy Scot Peterson outside Building 12 (where the shooting occurred).  

Contrary to the School Board’s assertion in its Petition, no other individuals or 

parties appeared or sought intervention prior to the trial court’s first order.     

  After conducting an evidentiary hearing and an in camera review, the trial 

court ordered release of video footage showing Peterson, which had been “redacted 

to obscure the faces of students and unknown witnesses.”  State Attorney’s Office 

of the 17th Judicial Circuit v. Cable News Network, Inc., Nos. 4D18-1335, 4D18-
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1336, 2018 WL 3569397, at *2 (Fla. 4th DCA July 25, 2018).  No party appealed 

that order, and the video was released.   Id.   

 In the weeks following the shooting, law enforcement agencies continued to 

disclose additional written information concerning their response to the shooting, 

and more facts came to light. The News Media Parties therefore on March 21, 

2018 filed a motion for further relief seeking additional video. The trial court again 

expeditiously set an initial status conference on the News Media Parties’ motion 

for March 23, 2018. At the conference, BSO advised that it did not object to 

producing the external videos, provided that no victims or children’s faces were 

shown.  Counsel for the News Media Parties agreed. 

However, in an abundance of caution, the trial court ordered the News 

Media Parties to amend their motion to make clear what precisely was sought, i.e., 

external video of the law enforcement response and not any video depicting victims 

(outside or inside the School) or video from inside Building 12.  The News Media 

Parties agreed to do so.   

Accordingly, the News Media Parties thereafter filed their Amended and 

Supplemental Motion for Further Relief, seeking disclosure of additional external 

videos depicting the response of other law enforcement personnel.  Specifically, 

the News Media Parties stated that they were not seeking any video: (a) depicting 
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the victims of the shooting; (b) from the interior cameras of any School building; 

(c) specifically identifying any student; or (d) depicting Nikolas Cruz. 

On April 2nd, the trial court held another status conference and further 

limited the time frame to external videos from 2:15 to 3 p.m. (a 45-minute period) 

on the date of the shooting. The trial court then on April 4th conducted an 

evidentiary hearing on the amended motion, at which the court heard testimony 

and considered evidence.2   After an in camera review of the additional limited and 

redacted exterior video, the trial court ordered its release. In so doing, the trial 

court found that the videos came within the security plan exemption, but that there 

was “good cause” to permit disclosure.  Petitioner School Board and the SAO 

appealed.   

After full briefing, oral argument and in camera review of the video footage 

(filed under seal), the Fourth District on July 25, 2018 issued its opinion affirming 

the trial court’s order.  In its opinion, the Fourth District agreed that the video at 

issue was included within the scope of Chapter 119’s exemption for “security 

plans,” but also agreed that the News Media Parties had established “good cause” 

for release -- as provided by the statutory terms in the exemption.   

                                           
2  As the Record on Appeal below reflects, and as the School Board is 

aware, the intervenor victims’ families advised the trial court prior to the final 

hearing that because no video depicting a victim was sought or would be released, 

they did not object.  The victim family intervenors therefore were not parties to the 

appeal in the Fourth District and have not appeared here. 
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Prior to this appeal, the School Board filed a motion in the Fourth District 

requesting that the court certify a question of great public importance.  State 

Attorney’s Office, 2018 WL 3569397, at *10. In its motion, the School Board 

asserted that the Fourth District’s opinion “obviates” the statutory exemption to 

maintain safety and security at public buildings, and that the decision “could 

impact every child attending public school in Florida…” Id.  The Fourth District 

rejected both arguments, advising that its decision “simply defined the term ‘good 

cause’ according to well-recognized common law principles and affirmed the trial 

court’s discretionary finding of cause in this case.” Id. (emphasis in original).  

The School Board thereafter filed its notice to invoke the discretionary 

review of this Court.       

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 Petitioner seeks to invoke discretionary jurisdiction under two provisions of 

Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. and the rules of appellate procedure, both of which 

fail. In this regard, rather than addressing this Court’s jurisdiction and its well-

articulated limits, the School Board essentially has filed a merits brief disagreeing 

with the decision below.   

First, pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i), Petitioner argues that the 

Fourth District’s decision “construes a number of Florida statutes valid” -- 

presumably Fla. Stat. §§ 119.071(3)(a), (3)(b), and 281.301.  Pet. Br. at 10.  This 
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argument is meritless because the opinion does not make any reference to the 

validity of these or any other statutes.  Rather, the court simply applied the statutes 

to the facts, which does not provide a basis to squeeze the decision into this narrow 

jurisdictional provision. 

Second, Petitioner similarly argues that this Court should review the 

decision under Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) because it “also construes the 

Florida Constitution” -- presumably Art. I, § 24 (providing a right of access to 

public records and meetings).  Pet. Br. at 10.  This argument, too, is baseless.  The 

Fourth District did not “construe” Art. I, § 24, because it never undertook any sort 

of explanation of that provision, which is required to confer jurisdiction. This 

Court thus should deny review. 

ARGUMENT 

 Petitioner seeks to invoke this Court’s jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. 

P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i) and (ii), but this rule does not provide any basis for review 

here.  In this regard, Art. V, § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution permits this Court 

to review “any decision of a district court of appeal . . . that expressly declares 

valid a state statute, or that expressly construes a provision of the state or federal 

constitution.” (emphasis added). Discretionary jurisdiction applies only to a 

“narrow” class of cases. Wells v. State, 132 So. 3d 1110, 1112 (Fla. 2014) 

(citations omitted). Those narrow categories do not include Petitioner’s 
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characterization, and review should not be granted merely because Petitioner 

disagrees with the Fourth District’s opinion. 

I. The Opinion Does Not “Declare Valid” Any Florida Statutes. 

  

The School Board first seeks review under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i), which 

provides that “[t]he discretionary jurisdiction of the supreme court may be sought 

to review (A) decisions of the district courts of appeal that (i) expressly declare 

valid a state statute.”  Here, it is beyond dispute that the Fourth District’s opinion 

does not expressly declare valid any state statute.  Thus, the School Board has no 

basis for invoking jurisdiction under this rule. 

In the proceedings below, the School Board argued that the videos should 

not be released because they were exempt from disclosure under Fla. Stat. §§ 

119.071(3)(a) and 281.301(1), both of which provide that certain “security or fire 

safety system plan[s]” are exempt from disclosure as public records.  Both statutes, 

however, also provide that such records may be disclosed “[u]pon a showing of 

good cause before a court of competent jurisdiction.” See Fla. Stat. §§ 

119.071(3)(a)3.d. and 281.301(2)(d).  Although the parties disagreed about 

whether the videos should be released, no party ever argued -- and neither lower 

court ever considered -- whether the statutes themselves were valid.  For this 

reason, of course, the School Board is unable to point to any portion of the opinion 

declaring the validity of the statutes at issue.  
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Because Petitioner cannot point to an explicit statement of validity, it instead 

apparently relies upon the defunct “inherency doctrine” because the Fourth District 

considered and applied the relevant statutes.  But this is precisely the type of case 

this Court no longer reviews.  In 1980, Art. V, § 3(b)(3) was amended to 

essentially abolish the inherency doctrine, meaning that this Court will not review 

a district court’s opinion that “applied the statute as though it were valid but did 

not directly discuss or make a finding of validity.” H. L. Anstead et al., The 

Operation and Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida, 29 NOVA L. REV. 

431, 503 (Spring 2005); Comm. Notes to 1980 Amend., In re Emergency Amend. 

to Rules of App. P., 381 So. 2d 1370, 1374 (Fla. 1980).  Because Petitioner seeks 

review with no express declaration as required, its request should be denied.  

II. The Opinion Does Not “Expressly Construe” a Provision of the State 

Constitution. 

 

Petitioner likewise apparently claims that the Fourth District’s decision 

“expressly construes” Article I, section 24 of the Florida Constitution.  Pet. Br. at 

10.  Assuming this is the School Board’s argument, Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. 

and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) permit discretionary jurisdiction only where 

a constitutional provision is expressly construed -- which does not appear in the 

Fourth District’s decision. 

 For this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, the School Board 

must show that the decision “explain[s], define[s] or otherwise eliminate[s] 
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existing doubt arising from the language or terms of the constitutional provision.”  

Ogle v. Pepin, 273 So. 2d 391, 392 (Fla. 1973) (denying jurisdiction where the 

district court’s opinion did not “discuss” the constitutional provisions); Armstrong 

v. City of Tampa, 106 So. 2d 407, 409 (Fla. 1958) (“it is necessary that the final 

decree under assault actually construe, as distinguished from apply, a controlling 

provision of the Constitution. . . . It is not sufficient merely that the trial judge 

examine into the facts of a particular case and then apply a recognized, clear-cut 

provision of the Constitution.”), reaffirmed in Ogle, 273 So. 2d at 393; Rojas v. 

State, 288 So. 2d 234, 236 (Fla. 1973) (“Applying is not synonymous with 

Construing; the former is NOT a basis for our jurisdiction”) (emphasis in original). 

Here, the Fourth District did not expressly construe a state constitutional 

provision in any manner whatsoever.   Rather, the court held only that the videos at 

issue were public records subject to disclosure within the meaning of Art. I, § 24, 

Fla. Const. and Chapter 119, Fla. Stat. (2018).  See State Attorney’s Office, 2018 

WL 3569397, at *4.  In so doing, the opinion contains no discussion or finding 

concerning the constitutional right of access.  Instead, the decision affirmed the 

trial court’s discretionary finding that good cause existed for disclosure because the 

videos would allow the public to witness and evaluate:  (1) when first responders 

arrived on campus; (2) where first responders went when they arrived; (3) and 

what first responders did when they arrived.  Id. at *8.    
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The cases cited by the School Board in its very brief section on discretionary 

review, Pet. Br. at 10, reinforce the lack of jurisdiction here.  See Sigler v. State, 

881 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) (declining to certify question because its 

decision “expressly [held] the statute invalid under the United States Constitution,” 

thereby providing “apparent jurisdiction to review our decision”); River Place 

Condo. Ass’n at Ellenton, Inc. v. Benzing, 890 So. 2d 386, 389 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) 

(“we are expressly declaring a statute valid and construing the Florida constitution 

to do so”); Mozo v. State, 632 So. 2d 623, 638 n.11 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (stating 

that “we have expressly construed” a constitutional provision to provide 

discretionary review); Wickman v. Firestone, 500 So. 2d 740, 742 (Fla. 4th DCA 

1987) (noting that the court wrote an opinion declaring a statute valid “to afford 

the appellant an opportunity to invoke the Supreme Court’s discretionary 

jurisdiction”). 

By stark contrast, there is nothing of the sort in the Fourth District’s opinion.  

This Court therefore has no basis to review the decision. 

CONCLUSION 

Petitioner’s jurisdictional brief is nothing more than a disagreement with the 

Fourth District Court of Appeal’s decision.  Petitioner does not proffer any actual 

basis that would give rise to this Court’s discretionary jurisdiction.  Accordingly, 

this Court should decline to invoke its discretionary jurisdiction over this matter. 



 

 11